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PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION OF THE STATE OF COLORADO,  


COMPLAINANT,  

V.  

SHAMROCK CHARTERS, INC., Doing business as SHAMROCK  
 
AIRPORT EXPRESS,  


RESPONDENT.  
recommended decision of 
administrative law Judge 
mana l. jennings-fader 
granting motion, accepting stipulation, assessing civil penalty, vacating hearing date, waiving response time, and 
closing docket  

Mailed Date:  August 3, 2007  

I. statement, findings, and conclusion  
1. On May 25, 2007, Staff of the Public Utilities Commission (Staff) issued Civil Penalty Assessment Notice (CPAN) No. 83503 to Shamrock Charters Inc., doing business as Shamrock Airport Express (Respondent).  The CPAN alleges that Respondent violated Rule 4 Code of Colorado Regulations (CCR) 723-6-6102(a) and the incorporated 49 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) §§ 391.11(a), 391.11(b)(6), and 391.27 and violated Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6102(a) and the incorporated 49 CFR §§ 391.25(b) and 391.25(c)(2) on April 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 9, 10, and 11, 2007.  The CPAN seeks the maximum civil penalty for the alleged violations.  

2. On June 28, 2007, the Commission issued its Order Setting Hearing and Notice of Hearing.  This Order scheduled a hearing in this matter on August 7, 2007.  

3. On July 31, 2007, Staff filed a document entitled Motion to Vacate Hearing Date, [Motion] for Approval of Stipulation and Settlement Agreement and [Motion for] Waiver of Response Time.  The Stipulation and Settlement Agreement (Stipulation) was attached to the filing as Exhibit 1.  In the filing at ¶ 6, Staff represents that Respondent supports the relief sought in the filing.
  

4. Respondent is a corporation which operates pursuant to Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity No. 49759.  Respondent is subject to regulations found at 4 CCR 723 Part 6.  
5. On May 29, 2007, Respondent was served, by certified mail, return receipt requested, with the CPAN.  Respondent does not dispute service.  
6. Respondent does not challenge the Commission’s jurisdiction, and the facts establish the Commission’s jurisdiction in this proceeding.  The Commission has subject matter jurisdiction over this case.  In addition, the Commission has personal jurisdiction over Respondent, which was served with the CPAN.  

In the Stipulation at ¶ 1, Respondent admits, and on this basis the ALJ finds, that Respondent violated Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6102(a) and the incorporated 49 CFR §§ 391.11(a), 391.11(b)(6), and 391.27 and violated Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6102(a) and the incorporated 49 CFR §§ 391.25(b) and 391.25(c)(2) on April 2, 2007.  The ALJ finds that the Respondent should be assessed a civil penalty for these admitted violations.  The maximum civil penalty for these two violations is $200.  
In the Stipulation at ¶ 1, Respondent admits, and on this basis the ALJ finds, that Respondent violated Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6102(a) and the incorporated 49 CFR §§ 391.11(a), 391.11(b)(6), and 391.27 and violated Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6102(a) and the incorporated 49 CFR §§ 391.25(b) and 391.25(c)(2) on April 3, 2007.  The ALJ finds that the Respondent should be assessed a civil penalty for these admitted violations.  The maximum civil penalty for these two violations is $200.  

In the Stipulation at ¶ 1, Respondent admits, and on this basis the ALJ finds, that Respondent violated Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6102(a) and the incorporated 49 CFR §§ 391.11(a), 391.11(b)(6), and 391.27 and violated Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6102(a) and the incorporated 49 CFR §§ 391.25(b) and 391.25(c)(2) on April 4, 2007.  The ALJ finds that the Respondent should be assessed a civil penalty for these admitted violations.  The maximum civil penalty for these two violations is $200.  

In the Stipulation at ¶ 1, Respondent admits, and on this basis the ALJ finds, that Respondent violated Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6102(a) and the incorporated 49 CFR §§ 391.11(a), 391.11(b)(6), and 391.27 and violated Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6102(a) and the incorporated 49 CFR §§ 391.25(b) and 391.25(c)(2) on April 5, 2007.  The ALJ finds that the Respondent should be assessed a civil penalty for these admitted violations.  The maximum civil penalty for these two violations is $200.  

In the Stipulation at ¶ 1, Respondent admits, and on this basis the ALJ finds, that Respondent violated Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6102(a) and the incorporated 49 CFR §§ 391.11(a), 391.11(b)(6), and 391.27 and violated Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6102(a) and the incorporated 49 CFR §§ 391.25(b) and 391.25(c)(2) on April 6, 2007.  The ALJ finds that the Respondent should be assessed a civil penalty for these admitted violations.  The maximum civil penalty for these two violations is $200.  

In the Stipulation at ¶ 1, Respondent admits, and on this basis the ALJ finds, that Respondent violated Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6102(a) and the incorporated 49 CFR §§ 391.11(a), 391.11(b)(6), and 391.27 and violated Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6102(a) and the incorporated 49 CFR §§ 391.25(b) and 391.25(c)(2) on April 9, 2007.  The ALJ finds that the Respondent should be assessed a civil penalty for these admitted violations.  The maximum civil penalty for these two violations is $200.  

In the Stipulation at ¶ 1, Respondent admits, and on this basis the ALJ finds, that Respondent violated Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6102(a) and the incorporated 49 CFR §§ 391.11(a), 391.11(b)(6), and 391.27 and violated Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6102(a) and the incorporated 49 CFR §§ 391.25(b) and 391.25(c)(2) on April 10, 2007.  The ALJ finds that the Respondent should be assessed a civil penalty for these admitted violations.  The maximum civil penalty for these two violations is $200.  

In the Stipulation at ¶ 1, Respondent admits, and on this basis the ALJ finds, that Respondent violated Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6102(a) and the incorporated 49 CFR §§ 391.11(a), 391.11(b)(6), and 391.27 and violated Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6102(a) and the incorporated 49 CFR §§ 391.25(b) and 391.25(c)(2) on April 11, 2007.  The ALJ finds that the Respondent should be assessed a civil penalty for these admitted violations.  The maximum civil penalty for these two violations is $200.  

The maximum civil penalty in this matter is $1,600.  The Parties have settled on a civil penalty of $1,200 and have set out in detail the factors which support this settlement.  Stipulation at ¶ 4.  Among the factors are:  (a) by admitting to all 16 violations, Respondent admitted to the maximum level of culpability; (b) Respondent's owner, who was also the Operations Manager, became extremely ill and died without having made arrangements for a successor, thus adversely impacting Respondent's day-to-day operations; (c) when the new Operations Manager was hired and became aware of the Safety and Compliance Review Summary Report which detailed the recordkeeping violations, he initiated discussions with Staff and undertook corrective actions;
 (d) the unexpected death of Respondent's owner/Operations Manager resulted in unanticipated business difficulties for Respondent, which has been in business for over 15 years and which has been proactive in working to be in compliance with applicable Commission rules; and (e) the settled civil penalty of $1,200 is sufficiently large to impress on Respondent the importance of compliance and the seriousness of the violations without being so burdensome as to impair Respondent's ability to conduct business.  
The ALJ has considered the Stipulation in light of the factors enumerated in Rule 4 CCR 723-1- 1302(b).
  The ALJ finds that the Stipulation is just and reasonable.  
The ALJ finds that a civil penalty in the amount of $1,200 should be assessed.  In reaching this conclusion, the ALJ considered the statute and its public safety purposes; considered Commission guidance provided in previous civil penalty case decisions; considered the purposes served by civil penalties; considered the factors discussed in the Stipulation; and considered the range of civil penalty assessments found to be reasonable in other civil penalty cases.  The ALJ finds that a civil penalty of $1,200 achieves the following purposes underlying civil penalty assessments:  (a) deterring future violations, whether by other similarly-situated carriers or by Respondent; (b) motivating Respondent to come into compliance with the law; and (c) punishing Respondent for its past behavior.  

7. In accordance with the Stipulation, Respondent will be ordered to pay the civil penalty of $1,200 within ten days of the date of the Commission's final order in this matter.  In addition, and in accordance with the Stipulation, failure to make the required payment  
will result in [Respondent's] being liable for the full penalty amount of $1600.00 without any further hearing.  Respondent agrees and stipulates [and the ALJ will order] that failure to pay the settlement amount within ten (10) days of the Commission final order shall also be deemed as a waiver by Respondent of any and all rights to file exceptions and/or to all rights to file a request for rehearing, reargument and reconsideration or any other form of appeal.  

Stipulation at ¶ 3.  
8. Because the Stipulation is just and reasonable, the Motion for Approval of the Stipulation and Settlement Agreement states good cause and will be granted.  The Stipulation will be accepted.  A civil penalty in the amount of $1,200 will be assessed against Respondent in accordance with the terms of the Stipulation.  
9. Because this matter has been settled and the Stipulation has been accepted, the Motion to Vacate Hearing Date states good cause and will be granted.  The hearing date of August 7, 2007 will be vacated.  

10. Pursuant to § 40-6-109(2), C.R.S., the ALJ recommends that the Commission enter the following order.  

II. ORDER
A. The Commission Orders That:
1. The Motion for Approval of Stipulation and Settlement Agreement is granted.  

2. The Stipulation and Settlement Agreement is accepted.  
3. Shamrock Charters Inc., doing business as Shamrock Airport Express, is assessed a civil penalty in the amount of $1,200.  

4. Shamrock Charters Inc., doing business as Shamrock Airport Express, shall pay the civil penalty of $1,200 within ten days of the date of the Commission's final order in this matter.  

5. Failure of Shamrock Charters Inc., doing business as Shamrock Airport Express, to make the payment in accordance with the requirements of Ordering Paragraph No. 4 shall result in Shamrock Charters Inc., doing business as Shamrock Airport Express, being liable for the full civil penalty amount of $1,600 without further hearing.  In addition, failure to make the payment in accordance with the requirements of Ordering Paragraph No. 4 constitutes a waiver by Shamrock Charters Inc., doing business as Shamrock Airport Express, of any and all rights to file exceptions and/or to all rights to file a request for rehearing, reargument or reconsideration or to take any other form of appeal with respect to imposition of the $1,600 civil penalty.  

6. The Motion to Vacate Hearing Date is granted.  

7. The hearing scheduled in this matter for August 7, 2007 is vacated.  

8. The Motion for Waiver of Response Time is granted.  

9. Response time to the Motion for Approval of Stipulation and Settlement Agreement is waived.  
10. Response time to the Motion to Vacate Hearing Date is waived.  

11. This Recommended Decision shall be effective on the day it becomes the Decision of the Commission, if that is the case, and is entered as of the date above.  

12. As provided by § 40-6-109, C.R.S., copies of this Recommended Decision shall be served upon the parties, who may file exceptions to it.  

If no exceptions are filed within 20 days after service or within any extended period of time authorized, or unless the decision is stayed by the Commission upon its own motion, the recommended decision shall become the decision of the Commission and subject to the provisions of § 40-6-114, C.R.S.  

If a party seeks to amend, modify, annul, or reverse basic findings of fact in its exceptions, that party must request and pay for a transcript to be filed, or the parties may stipulate to portions of the transcript according to the procedure stated in § 40-6-113, C.R.S.  If no transcript or stipulation is filed, the Commission is bound by the facts set out by the administrative law judge and the parties cannot challenge these facts.  This will limit what the Commission can review if exceptions are filed.  

13. If exceptions to this Decision are filed, they shall not exceed 30 pages in length, unless the Commission for good cause shown permits this limit to be exceeded.  
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Doug Dean, 
Director
	THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION
OF THE STATE OF COLORADO


MANA L. JENNINGS-FADER
________________________________

Administrative Law Judge
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�  Staff represents that Respondent supports the Motion for Approval, the Motion to Vacate Hearing Date, and the Motion for Waiver of Response Time.  As a result, it will not be prejudiced if the Motion for Waiver of Response Time is granted.  Thus, the Motion for Waiver of Response Time will be granted; response time to the Motion for Approval and to the Motion to Vacate Hearing Date will be waived.  


�  Staff regards this as a good faith showing of Respondent's efforts to come into compliance and as an indication that Respondent intends to prevent similar violations in the future.  


�  That Rule provides that the Commission  


may impose a civil penalty, where provided by law, after considering evidence concerning the following factors:  


(I)	The nature, circumstances, and gravity of the violation;  


(II)	The degree of the respondent's culpability;  


(III)	The respondent's history of prior offenses;  


(IV)	The respondent's ability to pay;  


(V)	Any good faith efforts by the respondent in attempting to achieve compliance and to prevent future similar violations;  


(VI)	The effect on the respondent's ability to continue in business;  


(VII)	The size of the business of the respondent; and  


(VIII)	Such other factors as equity and fairness may require.  
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